South Windsor Swim & Tennis Club, Inc. Post Office Box 534 South Windsor, Connecticut 06074

BY-LAWS

Revised & Approved March 5, 2009

ARTICLE I – NAME

The name of the Corporation shall be the South Windsor Swim & Tennis Club, Inc.

ARTICLE II – PURPOSE

The purposes of the Corporation, as stated in the certificate of Incorporation, are:

- To acquire by purchase or otherwise, a tract of land suitable as a- site for a <u>swimming pool</u>; to construct, maintain and operate thereon a swimming pool; to provide and maintain on such a site a clubhouse, showers, tennis courts and other desirable improvements: and to engage in such related activities as may be deemed desirable or essential;
- To do any and all acts which may be lawfully done by a non-stock non-profit corporation;
- Provided, further, that no part of the Corporation's income is distributable to its members, directors, or officers and the Corporation shall not have or issue shares of stock or pay dividends.

ARTICLE III – MANAGEMENT

Section 1 – Management The management of the affairs of the Corporation shall be vested in an unpaid Board of Directors consisting of fourteen (14) bonded members. They will fill the positions listed below.

Officers Directors

President Buildings & Grounds

Past President Membership -

Vice President Member at Large

Secretary Pool Operations

Assistant Treasurer Tennis Social

Treasurer

League Liaison Representative

Swim Team

The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall preside at all meetings of the Corporation and at all meetings of the Board of Directors. He/she shall have the general authority to exercise all of the administrative powers usually pertaining to the office of president of a corporation. He/she shall have the power to appoint such committees as may be necessary, in addition to the committees provided for in these by-laws, with the approval of a majority of the Board of Directors. In the case of a tie on any issue or resolution before the Board of Directors, the President shall cast the deciding vote.

The Past President shall assist the President in the performance of his/her duties and shall serve as the chairperson of the Rules Committee.

The Vice-President shall, in the absence or disability of the President, serve in the capacity of president. He/she shall have the primary responsibility for all staff personnel matters, including, but not limited to, hiring, job descriptions, salary negotiations, and terminations.

The Secretary shall keep a record of all meetings of the Corporation and of the Board of Directors, and perform such duties as are usually performed by secretaries of corporations.

The Treasurer shall collect and keep safely all the funds of the Corporation and shall perform such duties with respect to the accounts, finances and financial obligations of the Corporation as are usually performed by treasurers of corporations. At the conclusion of the Corporation Fiscal Year, he/she shall render full and complete reports of the finances of the Corporation for the preceding fiscal year. He/she shall provide such other statements as shall then, or from time to time, be required of him/her by the Board of Directors.

The Assistant Treasurer shall assist the Treasurer in the performance of his/her duties.

The Member at Large shall provide the Board of Directors with expertise in specialized areas (JE. law, insurance, etc.) as deemed necessary by the Board at any given time.

The remaining seven (7) Directors shall serve as the Chairpersons of the Committees associated with their titles. Explanation of their duties can be found in Article VII of these By-Laws.

Section 2 – Election of Officers and Directors The officers and directors of the Corporation shall be elected at the annual meeting of the Corporation by a ballot, by a majority vote of a quorum of the bonded membership of the Corporation. Effective with the annual meeting in November 1992, terms of office on the Board of Directors shall be two (2) years. Officers shall be elected in odd number years and Directors shall be elected in even number years.

Section 3 – Vacancies By a majority vote, the Board of Directors shall have the power to fill any vacancy occurring in said Board for any cause other than the expiration of term of office, provided, however, such persons appointed to fill such vacancies shall only serve until the next annual meeting, at which time a special election Will be held for a one-year term if vacancy occurs in the first year of a two-year term.

Section 4 – Removal Any officer or director of the Corporation may be removed from office by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the entire remaining Board of Directors. All officers and directors may be removed by a two-thirds vote of the full, bonded membership.

Section 5 – Meeting of Members The Annual Meeting of the Corporation for the election of officers and directors and the consideration of candidates for membership shall be held during the month of November in each year. Special meetings of the Corporation may be called at any time by call of the President or by call of three (3) directors, or by request of at least one-fifth (1/5) of the members of the Corporation, each such call or request to be <u>communicated</u> in writing to the Secretary. The Secretary shall notify all members in writing of each annual or any special meeting at least seven (7) days prior to the date of any such meeting, stating the date, place and hour thereof. As to any special meeting, the general purpose or purposes thereof must be stated and no other business shall be transacted at such meeting.

Section 6 – Quorum Twenty percent (20%) of the total membership of the Corporation, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Corporation.

Section 7 – Meeting of Directors Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held monthly with a minimum of ten (10) meetings per year, at such time and place as shall be designated by the President, notice of which shall be given by the Secretary to each Director in person or by mall. The Directors may waive notice. Special meetings may be held at the call of the President or at the request of three (3) Directors submitted in writing by the Secretary. The Secretary shall give notice of any such special meeting by mail to each Director at least three (3) days prior to the date for such special meeting. A majority in number of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum. Representation by proxy is prohibited at meetings of the Directors.

ARTICLE IV – MEMBERSHIP

The rights, privileges, qualifications and the manner of election of members, as stated in the Certificate of Incorporation are as follows:

Section 1 – Membership The membership of the Corporation shall be of three classes: a family membership, a senior membership and an individual membership. A family membership shall grant the privileges of use of all of the Corporation's facilities to the immediate family, if any, but limited to residents of the same household. The individual membership is for one person, over the age of 14 as of June 1st. No other person is permitted use of the facilities on this membership, except as decided by the Board of Directors. The individual member shall be entitled to 1 vote in the management of the Corporation, provided he/she is fully bonded. A senior membership shall grant a couple or single full use of the Corporation's facilities. This membership is for two, or one, adult members from a single household who have been regular club members for a minimum of fifteen (15) years. A senior membership shall grant a total of 1 vote.

Section 2 – Method of Election To become a candidate for membership, a family or an individual must submit a membership application along with the sum of \$100.00 to the. -Membership Committee together with such information as may be required by such committee. The Membership Committee shall investigate all prospective members and will present names to the Board of Directors for approval. Election shall be made by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors. Rejection may not be based on race, color, creed or national origin.

The Membership Committee shall promptly notify each newly-elected candidate of his/her election, and also of his/her obligations: (1) to give notice to the Membership Committee of his/her acceptance or rejection of membership within *fourteen (14)* days after notification of his/her election, and (2) to qualify as a member by making payment within one month after election of all amounts coming due under these By-Laws within such a period. If the newly-elected candidate fails to give notice of acceptance, or having done so, fails to qualify as aforesaid, the \$100.00 application fee shall be forfeited, and he/she shall be dropped from the elected list, and may become a member only by being again proposed as a new candidate.

Membership in the Corporation shall not exceed 200 family memberships and an additional 40 individual or senior memberships, except that the Board of Directors shall have the right to limit membership to a lesser number. A member may not voluntarily transfer his/her membership or any rights arising there from.

When a member in good standing resigns his/her membership because of the relocation of his/her actual residence out of the South Windsor area for a period anticipated to be one year or more in duration, and he/she thereafter resumes actual residence in the area, he/shall upon application for membership made not sooner than one (1) year after resignation be given the first position (except for prior returnee-applicants) on the list of candidates for membership, subject, however, to the requirements of these By-Laws with respect to election to and qualification for membership.

ARTICLE V – DUTIES, ASSESSMENTS AND INVESTMENTS

Section 1 – Dues are payable in full before March 30th of the calendar year.

Individual members shall pay dues equal to fifty percent (50%) of the amount charged to family memberships. Senior couples shall pay dues equal to sixty percent (60%) the amount charged to family memberships. Senior individual members shall pay dues equal to thirty percent (30%) the amount charged to family memberships.

Members notified of election before July 1 of a given calendar year shall pay the full year's dues. A member notified after July 1 and before September 1 shall pay a portion of the year's dues computed on the basis of whatever fraction remains of the two-month period from July 1 to September 1 following the notification date.

Any member may resign at any time by delivering a written notice of resignation to the Membership Director. Members who resign on or after April 7th shall pay dues computed on the basis of a fraction of the five (5) month period from April 7th to September 7th.

Section 2 – Assessment The Board of Directors may by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the full membership of the Board adopt By-Laws levying assessments against members, provided, however, such assessments shall not become effective until approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present in person or by proxy at a special meeting of members called for the purpose of considering each such assessment.

Members, except those with senior memberships, are required to participate in either spring or fall clean-up activities. There will be a minimum of two opportunities to participate in each year. The Pool Operations and/or Buildings & Grounds Committee shall determine definition of participation and special exceptions. Members who fail to participate will be charged an additional fee. Such additional fees will be determined each year by the Board of Directors and shall not exceed 25% of the yearly dues.

Section 3 – Capital Investment

1. Payment Plan

Bonded Membership Members shall pay a refundable capital investment of \$1000.00 (bond) plus state tax after notification of acceptance as a member of the SWSTC, Inc. The voting rights of each member or member family vests upon full payment of the \$1,000.00 capital investment. The bond is not refundable until the full \$1,000.00 capital investment is paid. The terms of payment of the bond shall be at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The terms of the bond payment shall be established prior to March 30th of the calendar year.

The Corporation shall issue a Participation Certificate to each member on completion of bond payments.

[Note: The Board has indefinitely suspended the issuance of Participation Certificates. Only those members holding Participation Certificates will be required to relinquish them upon resignation.]

2. Order of Return of Bond upon Resignation or other Termination

Upon written resignation or other termination at the discretion of the Board of Directors, the member or family member will be placed on a list in the order in which the resignation was received. The aforementioned list shall establish the order in which bonds are to be returned. Bonds will be returned only when the conditions of paragraphs 1 and 6 of Section 3 are met. Nothing in this section shall alter the terms of Article V, Section 1.

3. Special Bonded Membership

A special non-refundable bonded membership (\$200.00) was offered to families joining between August 1 and August 30, 1972. The accumulated refund value for these special bonded memberships since that time includes an assessment of \$195.00, 10% appreciation, and an assessment of \$125.50 for a total of \$340.00.

4. Non-Bonded Membership

Non-Bonded Members selecting a non-bonded status shall pay a non-refundable surcharge to be set by the Board of Directors, in addition to the dues on a yearly basis. Credit for current year's surcharge will be made if non-bonded member converts to a bonded membership by Sept. 7. Bond payment must be completed before September 7.

5. Individual Membership

Individual members have the option of paying a bond with full voting rights. All other sections relating to bonds shall apply to Individual members.

6. Refund of Bonds

The capital investment, less any amount owed by a member to the Corporation, must be refunded to the member in the event of termination of his membership and surrender of the Participation Certificate at such time thereafter as the total paid into the capital account reaches the capital limit and the Board of Directors determines there are sufficient funds, for the calendar year, available to cover all reasonable operating expenses of the Corporation, the proper maintenance and minor improvements of its property and a reasonable reserve for contingencies. The capital limit is defined as the authorized maximum membership times the current value of the bond defined in Paragraph 1. The Board of Directors may approve refunds to resigned members prior to attainment of the capital limit by a majority vote. The timing of all such refunds shall be at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. Refunds shall be made in order of termination as defined in Article V, Section 3, paragraph 2.

ARTICLE VI – GUESTS

A member of the Corporation may invite guests to enjoy the use of the Corporation's facilities, subject, however, to the limitation contained in the Rules and Regulations pertaining to Guest Privileges issued by the Rules Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII – COMMITTEES

The affairs of the Corporation and the Board of Directors shall be assisted by the following committees, all of which, with the exception of the Buildings & Grounds Committee, shall be comprised of a maximum of five members as appointed at the discretion of the committee chairperson.

Section 1 – Finance The Finance Committee shall prepare the annual operation budget for submission to the Board of Directors, and shall exercise general supervision over the financial transactions and planning of the Corporation. The Finance Committee shall include the Assistant Treasurer and be chaired by the Treasurer.

Section 2 – Building & Grounds The Building & Grounds Committee shall have general supervision of the construction, improvement and maintenance of the property of the Corporation, with the exception of the pool and its related equipment. This Committee shall be comprised of a maximum of seven (7) members and be chaired by the Building & Grounds Director.

Section 3 – Pool Operations The Pool Operations Committee shall have general supervision over the construction, improvement, and maintenance of the Corporation's swimming pool and its related equipment. The Pool Operations Director shall chair this committee.

Section 4 – Membership The Membership Committee shall be responsible for proposing for membership a sufficient number of candidates to meet the membership level specified by the board of directors. The Membership Director, as chairperson of this committee shall keep available for review by any member of the Corporation a list, in chronological order of receipt of proposals, of candidates proposed for membership.

Section 5 – Social The Social Committee shall plan and supervise all social functions of the Corporation open to the general membership of the Corporation. The Social Director shall be the chairperson of this committee.

Section 6 – Tennis The Tennis Committee shall be responsible for the opening and closing of the tennis facilities of the Corporation, contracting for professional care and maintenance of the courts, administering tournaments, and controlling court use and reservation time. The Tennis Director shall be the chairperson of this committee.

Section 7 – Rules The Rules Committee shall, on an annual basis prior to May 1st, review the By-Laws and all Corporation rules and regulations. Proposed changes shall be brought before the Board of Directors for consideration at its May meeting. The Past President shall be the chairperson of this committee.

Section 8 – Nominating The Nominating Committee shall present a recommended list of officers and/or directors who shall be placed before the annual membership meeting as candidates for election in accordance with ARTICLE III, Sections 2 & 3. At this meeting, nominations for any office or directorship may also be made from the floor, provided the consent of the nominee has previously been obtained.

Section 9 – Swim Team The Swim Team Committee shall be responsible for the promotion and operation of all activities associated with competitive swimming and diving. The swim League Liaison Representative will be on this committee and the Swim Team Director shall be the chairperson.

ARTICLE VIII – AMENDMENT OF BY-LAWS

Section 1 – Amendment of By-Laws Except as otherwise and specifically provided herein, adoption, repeal or amendment of By-Laws shall be accomplished by:

- 1. The affirmative vote of a majority of the full Board of Directors, plus the affirmative vote of a majority of the bonded members present in person or by proxy at a special meeting of members called for the purpose of considering the action of the Board, or
- 2. The majority vote in person or by proxy of the entire bonded membership.

Section 2 – Notice of Proposed Amendment Notice shall be given to members or to Directors, respectively, of any meeting of members or of the Board of Directors at which action upon By-Laws is to be taken, which notice shall state in detail the substance of the proposed action. This notice shall be given at least two (2) weeks prior to the meeting.

Section 3 – No By-Law provision prescribing the vote required to take any particular action shall itself be amended by a lesser vote.

ARTICLE IX – MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1 – Auditors The Board of Directors shall cause the books of the Corporation to be audited annually by auditors selected by the Board. The report of the auditors shall be available to the members upon request.

Section 2 – Suspension and Expulsion Any member family or any individual of a member family may, for cause and after having been given an opportunity for a hearing, be suspended for a period not exceeding three months by a two-thirds vote of the full membership of the Board. Cause for suspension or expulsion shall in general consist of violation of these By-Laws or the rules or regulations of the Corporation or of conduct unbecoming to a lady or gentleman.

Section 3 – Interpretation Any questions as to the proper interpretation of any of the provisions of these By-Laws shall be determined by the Board of Directors and all points of order not covered by the By-Laws shall be ruled upon according to "Robert's Rules of Order."